The Pennsylvania State University

Graduate School

Department of Computer Science Engineering

# A HIGH-EFFICIENCY SWITCHED-CAPACITANCE HTFET CHARGE PUMP FOR LOW-INPUT-VOLTAGE APPLICATIONS

A Thesis in

Computer Science and Engineering

by

Unsuk Heo

© 2015 Unsuk Heo

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

May 2015

The thesis of Unsuk Heo was reviewed and approved\* by the following:

Vijaykrishnan Narayanan Full Professor of Computer Science and Engineering Thesis Advisor

Kyusun Choi Professor of Computer Science and Engineering

Lee Coraor Professor of Computer Science and Engineering Head of the Department of Department or Graduate Program

\*Signatures are on file in the Graduate School

## ABSTRACT

High-efficiency power delivery, as well as low-power circuit design continues to be an important concern in energy harvesting circuits and application that are limited by the battery capacity. This thesis presents a high-efficiency switched-capacitance charge pump in 20 nm III-V heterojunction tunnel field-effect transistor (HTFET) technology for low-input-voltage applications. It provides for higher efficiency than the conventional CMOS solution. The proposed circuit doubles the ratio of input voltage to output voltage, which is strongly related to its high efficiency. The state of art CMOS-based conventional switched-capacitance charge pump achieve power efficiency as 82% and output as 1.8V with 1.0V input voltage with 130nm technology.

The steep-slope and low-threshold HTFET device characteristics are utilized to extend the input voltage range to below 0.20 V. Meanwhile, the uni-directional current conduction is utilized to reduce the reverse energy loss and to simplify the non-overlapping phase controlling. Furthermore, with uni-directional current conduction, an improved cross-coupled charge pump topology is proposed for higher voltage output and power-conversion-efficiency (PCE). Simulation results show that the proposed HTFET charge pump achieves 90.4% and 91.4% power conversion efficiency with a 1.0 k $\Omega$  resistive load. The DC results obtained are 0.37 V and 0.57 V, when the input voltage is 0.20 V and 0.30 V, respectively.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

List of Figures	V
List of Tables	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Emerging Devices for Energy Harvesting Systems	1
1.2 Self-powered Operation	3
1.3 Organization of Thesis	5
Chapter 2 HTFET Characteristics and Modeling	6
2.1 HTFET device characteristics	7
2.1.1 Step-slope with A Low Input Voltage	7
2.1.2 Uni-directional Tunnel Conduction without Substrate Modulation	8
2.1.3 Miller Effect in TFET	9
2.2 HTFET-based Device Circuit Implementations	
2.3 HTFET Device Simulation Set-up	12
Chapter 3 Kinds of DC-DC Power Converter and Kinds of Topology	13
3.1 Types of DC-DC Power Converters	13
3.1.1 Switch Mode Power Converter	13
3.1.2 Switched-Capacitor Power Converter	14
3.2 Types of Switched-Capacitance Topology	17
3.2.1 Dickson charge pumps	17
3.2.2 Dickson charge pumps with bootstrap control	
3.2.2 Cross-coupled Voltage Doubler	19
Chapter 4 Cross-coupled charge pump design challenge	23
4.1 Improved Cross-Coupled Charge Pump Design	23
4.1.1 Low-Input-Voltage Operation	24
4.1.2 Simplified Phase-Control Clock Generation	24
4.1.3 Improved Cross-Coupled Charge Pump	24
4.2 HTFET Charge Pump Optimization	
4.3 Performance Benchmarking	29
Chapter 5 Conclusion	31
Appendix TFET-based DC-DC converter Spectra Simulation File	32
References	34

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1-1. The benchmarking evaluation from [2]	2
Figure 1-2. Energy harvesting application	4
Figure 2-1. Device structure for n-type Si FinFET and n-type GaSb-InAs HTFET [8]	6
Figure 2-2. DC characterization HTFET and Si-FinFET sub-threshold slope	7
Figure 2-3. I-V curves for Si FinFET and HTFET [7] [5] [10].	8
Figure 2-4. Capacitance-voltage characteristics showing the gate (Cgg), gate-to-source (Cgs) and gate-to-drain (Cgd) capacitances as a function of gate to source voltage, VGS, for (a) Si TFET and (b) Si MOSFET	10
Figure 2-5. HTFET circuit-level Verilog-A model [3] [8].	12
Figure 3-1. Power stage topologies of switch mode power converter for boost voltage converter.	13
Figure 3-2. Circuit schematic of charge pump	15
Figure 3-3. On-resistance of HTFET switches versus gate-source voltage VGS.	16
Figure 3-4. HTFET-based Dickson charge pump.	17
Figure 3-5. The HTFET-based improved Dickson charge pump.	18
Figure 3-6. A conventional cross-coupled charge pump.	20
Figure 4-1. Proposed cross-coupled HTFET charge pump	23
Figure 4-2. Current from drain to source of NM1 in Figure 4-1	25
Figure 4-3. Settling time comparisons between proposed and conventional converter	25
Figure 4-4. Equivalent simplified circuit of the charge pumps in Fig. 2-5 and Fig. 4-1	26
Figure 4-5. CP optimization of the proposed HTFET charge pump with 250 µm switch width: (a) PCE; (b) VOUT; Switch width optimization for the proposed HTFET charge pump with 300 pF CP: (d) PCE; (e) VOUT.	27
Figure 4-6. Performance comparisons: (a) PCE versus VIN; (b) PCE versus RLOAD	28
Figure 4-7. $V_{OUT}$ and PCE comparisons with $C_P$ =100pF and the switch size reduced to 20 $\mu$ m.	30

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my parents whose love, support and understanding has always motivated me to strive for excellence.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my advisor, Vijaykrishnan Narayanan. His enthusiasm and constant encouragement in this exciting research of ultra-low-power HTFET based DC-DC converter was vital is my progress in research. I achieved intellectual as well as personal growth during the course of my research with him. I would like to convey my special thanks and appreciation to Ph.D. Xueqing Li and Ph.D candidate, Moon Seok Kim. They instilled in me the importance of collaborative research and self-learning.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge Prof. Kyusun Kim, and Dr. Suman Datta who introduced me to emerging devices that substitute CMOS-based FET and simulation tools which were instrumental in obtaining the thesis results.

## **Chapter 1 Introduction**

Wearable biomedical devices requires portable, high efficient and wearable system design. The functions of wearable electric devices are able to empower environmental health monitoring and to respond to emergencies. Recently, the advanced rechargeable battery or high-density super battery has been able to accumulate power from external sources such as RF-energy, heat energy, light energy and vibrational energy with energy controllers. Direct-current-to-direct-current (DC-DC) converter is a part of the controller to extract energy from unusable energy and make it usable and fit into specific electric gadgets. The material implemented in wearable electric devices in the human body requires to be harmless. Also, it should be small in size thus requiring the use of nanotechnologies. The major concern for determining the size and weight is usually the energy consumption of integrated circuits and sustainability to meet the usage in the human body.

#### 1.1 Emerging Devices for Energy Harvesting Systems

In the last few decades, the semiconductor industry follows Moore's law which reduces the cost of one transistor and increases the number of gates in a single chip. CMOS has been improved by new high mobility channel material (e.g. SiGe, III-V, etc) and new planar transistor structures such as multi-gate, silicon-on-insulator, FinFET enables better electrostatics with 1-D material (nanowire, carbon nanotube). CMOS-based high scaled devices faces power dissipation challenges due to parasitic internal resistance and capacitance. Over the last decade, the transistor architecture has gone through notable changes and various alternative models have been proposed. Alternative transistor architectures which has much lower energy than that of MOSFET are suggested as novel mechanism or non-charging state variable.



Figure 1-1. The benchmarking evaluation from [2].

Nikonov and Yang at Intel (Figure 1-1) reported performance evaluation for beyond-CMOS devices and CMOS extension devices [2]. CMOS extension devices operate charge-based device utilizing conventional field-effect mechanisms such as CMOS HP and CMOS LP. As a dominant transistor which has charge-based novel mechanism, tunnel FET (TFET) has lower energy than that of HP CMOS and shorter delay than that of LP CMOS. Differ from CMOS-based device, Tunnel FET (TFET) comprises tunneling as a channel transport mechanism. One beneficial model for Tunnel FET, III-V Heterojunction Tunnel FET (HTFET) can operate below 0.2V and has important characteristics such as steep subthreshold slope (SS). The pros and cons of the characteristics of this model in comparison with the original CMOS will be discussed in Chapter

Harvesting energy from the human body environment by using thermoelectric generators (TEG) has a range of 10mV/K to 50mV/K which varies on its process and size. The output voltage generated with TEG's for body-wearable applications is as low as 50mV for temperature differences of 1-2K. The output voltage range of a single solar cell is 500-600mV outdoors and 100-200mV indoors [2]. The threshold voltage limits are higher than the generated voltage of the harvested energy. Thus a low-startup voltage step-up DC-DC converter is required to kick-start the system. The core part which determines the aggregate power efficiency is charge pump topology because other control designs can be optimized depending on the switch characteristics. The charge pump topology, however, results in different power efficiency. In the chapter 3, several designs of charge pump with HTFET would be discussed with pros and cons. However, this thesis does not cover the startup logic because it requires an inductor whose area is much larger than capacitance.

#### **1.2 Self-powered Operation**

With primary batteries, the operation of traditional electric devices is predictable due to the independent nature of the ambient condition. However, traditional batteries are limited by their lifetime and replacement in wearable biomedical devices. Also, aging effects reduce the usable capacity in the battery and generate harmful and toxic residues and disposal. The undesirable issues for wearable devices require self-powered system with sustainable operation, which is called energy harvesting system. Collected energy from the ambient environmental is then transformed to usable energy in storage. There are mainly four harvested energy sources, including RF-energy, vibrational energy, thermal energy and light energy.

The first source, RF-energy harvesting, uses a primary receiver antenna which produces the resonant states and works with an inductive link. Biomedical devices which implement secondary receiver antenna collect energy from inductive-based vibration energy generated from primary coil

outside of body. However, transmitting low power inductive energy is not preferable due to unpredictable coupling factor which is challenging due to coil misalignment. The other source of vibrational harvesting energy is exploited by surface charge generated by pressure, vibrations or force in piezoelectric energy harvesting systems [3] [4]. Thus, the harvesting device is useful in equipped footwear, not in human body because the power can be scavenged from human gait motion. The other issues in vibration harvesting source is that they are particularly sensitive to the frequency and have limited bandwidth for peak power.

On the other hand, thermal energy and light energy are promising in wearable biomedical devices (except for the restriction mentioned in Section 1.1). Thermal energy is harvested using TEGs which convert temperature difference into electric energy. Charge carries moves from hot end to cold end, which generate a quite-low voltage at the power load. Emerging device and startup system can guarantee robust operation. Light energy is dependent on the external environment, but the generated energy is not as it obtained directly in the form of DC voltage and produces no harmful waste.. In addition to this, the portable device produces a much higher power than other harvesting sources.

Self-powered systems must guarantee reliability in energy harvesting, efficient power conditioning and storage management. However, the generated power from energy harvesting varies because the power source depends on the ambient environment.



Figure 1-2. Energy harvesting application

As shown in Figure 1-2, energy harvesting application guarantees functionality of energy harvesting with desired power conversion efficiency. There are two different functionalities, namely, power conditioning and power management. Power conditioning system ensures the functionality and change to a desired regulated voltage. Power management system guarantees long system run time with efficient operation. The most important component in circuit level design is DC-DC converter.

#### 1.3 Organization of Thesis

Chapter 2 discusses the TFET device characteristics and the circuit simulation module set-up used to simulate HTFET based DC-DC converter. The FINFET design which has a higher range of operation voltage is compared with the TFET design. Chapter 3 describes several types of DC-DC converter and discusses the advantages and disadvantages for each DC-DC converter. Based on these, the path of improving the performance of original DC-DC converters with TFET device is explained. The main challenge for designing a DC-DC converter would be discussed with simulation result comparisons in Chapter 4. Finally, the future work is discussed in Chapter 5.

## Chapter 2

### **HTFET Characteristics and Modeling**

In this section, the advantage and disadvantage of HTFET technology characteristics will be discussed along with comparisons with Si-FINFET. As a substitution for CMOS technology, HTFET is attractive because a lower threshold voltage with a low supply voltage. This enables less static power consumption while satisfying the performance metric. However, there is a key challenge by optimizing dynamic power due to internal parasitic capacitance in HTFET based phase generator. Recently, a TFET based digital and analog design has been proposed with significant performance improvement by voltage scaling and unconventional FET characteristic [3] [4] [5]. This section discusses the device characteristics, current purposed literature analysis and HTFET simulation module set-up.



Figure 2-1. Device structure for n-type Si FinFET and n-type GaSb-InAs HTFET [8]



Figure 2-2. DC characterization HTFET and Si-FinFET sub-threshold slope

#### 2.1 HTFET device characteristics

#### 2.1.1 Step-slope with A Low Input Voltage

The motivation for the design of Steeper switching inter-band TFET is to structurally control onstate current and off-state current. In MOSFET, carriers have higher energy than the thermal electrostatic potential barrier which can then contribute to the on-state current (Ion). These carriers are distributed by the Fermi-Dirac probability and the energy slope of kT is achieved at source/drain p-n junction. This energy causes a slope higher than 60mV/dec (~2.3kT/q) at 300K in MOSFET [6] [7]. Different from the MOSFET, TFET has asymmetrical source/drain doping as shown Figure 2-3 and a structurally gated p-i-n tunnel diode. The gate voltage controls the band-to-band tunneling window through which carriers inject through at source/channel, and a sub-60mV/dec SS can be achieved when it opens. III-V material as well as heterojunction yields higher energy efficiency with smaller SS and a larger on-state current of III-V HTFET, than that of the state-of-the-art CMOS technology at a low VCC (< 0.5V) [3]. As shown in Figure. 2-2, I-V curves illustrate that with the same off-state leakage current, TFET provides 7x larger switching current than MOSFET [7] [5] [8] [9].



#### 2.1.2 Uni-directional Tunnel Conduction without Substrate Modulation

Figure 2-3. I-V curves for Si FinFET and HTFET [7] [5] [10].

MOSFET has a symmetrical source/drain structure, Figure.2-3 shows bi-directional conduction due to the asymmetrical p-i-n structure, TFET has unidirectional conduction. On-state current significantly increases before entering the saturation region as VDs (reverse bias condition) increases and when VDs is negative, there is negligible current between drain and source. TFET is not bounded by the top of energy barrier such as MOSFET and the source region in an n-type TFET is p+ doped, which induces the band-to-band tunneling as applying the gate-voltage. Thus, TFET is controlled differently from source-channel energy barrier in MOSFET. (Figure 2-1) [7] [3] [5].

Unidirectional conduction is totally distinguished with the characteristic of MOSFET and this characteristic is the primary reason that results in the modification of bi-directional and unidirectional switching circuit design with TFET because it can suppress the reverse leakage current, thus achieving higher power efficiency.

#### 2.1.3 Miller Effect in TFET

Different from MOSFET structurally, TFET reveals enhanced miller capacitance (Cgd) due to asymmetric and double gated structure. As shown in Figure 2-4, different capacitance characteristic is illustrated for MOSFET and TFET at 0.5V supply voltage. It is normalized to gate oxide capacitance on gate-to-source (Cgs), gate-to-drain (Cgd), and aggregation (Cgg) on TFET. While Cgs dominates total capacitance (Cgg) in MOSFET, Cgd (miller capacitance) dominates total capacitance in TFET. Miller capacitance causes voltage overshoot in the transient response, which degrades the dynamic energy performance. In high frequency devices, the effect of Miller capacitance has a strongly bad effect on time delay and energy performance with complicated switching node in TFET devices [11].



Figure 2-4. Capacitance-voltage characteristics showing the gate (Cgg), gate-to-source (Cgs) and gate-to-drain (Cgd) capacitances as a function of gate to source voltage, VGS, for (a) Si TFET and (b) Si MOSFET

For a component like an inverter buffer of DC-DC converter design with high frequency, miller effect is a challenge to overcome and compromise to optimization. However, [5] points out miller capacitance enhances the storage nodes coupling and helps with node recovery by radiation, thus achieving better soft error resilience in SRAM design.

#### 2.2 HTFET-based Device Circuit Implementations

Currently, based on the TFET characteristic, the papers proposed suggest different circuit design for each device [3] [4] [5] The following three papers are reviewed with primary TFET characteristics for each device performance improvement.

Vinay Saripalli's paper [3] proposed variation-tolerant TFET SRAM design using Schmitt-

Trigger feedback approach in improving the read/write noise margin. TFET enables low-VCC

operation on SRAMs, thus it provides 1.2x reduction in dynamic power. TFET based SRAM provides 13x leakage power reduction compared to CMOS-based SRAM, thus reducing power consumption on his implementation. [3]

Matthew Cotter's paper [4] focus on performance characteristic by various TFET-based flip-flop designs. He addresses additional transistor requirements and evaluates performance on each modified design in comparison with Si-FinFet design. Transmission-gate flip-flop (TGFF) and Semi-Dynamic Flip-Flop (SDFF) employs the bi-directional property on the operations. Thus, unidirectional conduction of TFET-based design requires one additional transistor. The most critical performance improvement can be achieved in most notable pseudo-static D flip-flop (DFF) by transistor sizing with low power operation and not implementing feedback logic due to unidirectional conduction characteristic. Compared with FinFet-based DFF, he provides 67% reduction in dynamic power and 9x reduction in leakage energy. [4]

Huichu Liu's paper [5] pointed out the effect on modeling techniques and performance by diverse aspect of TFET analog devices compared to CMOS technology-based devices. An analog device takes advantage of steep switching of TFET to enable further energy saving by improving the circuit sensitivity. On the other hand, circuit design requires modification and optimization with unique characteristic of TFET which is described in chapter 2.1. The paper [5] has performance comparison on radiation resilience at low VCC between TFET and MOSFET and illustrates that due to miller effect, key challenge on low power CMOS circuit design soft error has been improved. [5]

#### 2.3 HTFET Device Simulation Set-up



Figure 2-5. HTFET circuit-level Verilog-A model [3] [8].

TCAD Sentaurus is an optional tool used to build the accurate Verilog-A simulation model before a fully-developed compact SPICE model is available [12]. By calibrating experimental data based on fabricated III-V TFET data, it is able to simulate DC and transient characteristics accurately [13]. This thesis utilized this verilog-A simulation model with SPECTRA simulator for emerging device-based circuit design and performance analysis. TFET Verilog model data are simulated by referring look-up table with IDs(VGS, VDS), CGS(VGS, VDS), and CGD(VGS, VDS) as shown in Figure 2-5 [3] [8]. However, because Verilog-A simulation is based on reading three twodimensional look-up table text file in every time, it takes a longer time than normal SPECTRA simulations with compact models.

## Chapter 3

## Kinds of DC-DC Power Converter and Kinds of Topology

#### 3.1 Types of DC-DC Power Converters

There are two major step-up converter designs to consider for self-powered devices, switch mode power converter and switched-capacitance power converter. The following is a discussion on the two major power converter designs, i.e. the switch mode power converter and switchedcapacitance power converter. [16]



Figure 3-1. Power stage topologies of switch mode power converter for boost voltage converter.

#### 3.1.1 Switch Mode Power Converter

Switch Mode Power Converter is broadly implemented because the controller generates stable output with varying input voltage in energy harvesting system. The design uses inductor for converting input energy into magnetic coils during one charge phase and converts DC voltage as the device need in the other phase. Other element needed for this design is the phase generator and feedback controller which controls phase controller or duty cycle of phase controller to obtain the desired output voltage. The expected power conversion efficiency is over 90%, which is the primary advantage among DC-DC converter designs.

The primary power loss for the design is the switching transistor dissipation (dynamic power loss) in switching phases. The basic design has only two transistor switches for changing the phases. Including feedback control logic and phase generator, the design consumes more energy in controlling than the voltage doubler logic would, due to its complex design.

As a downside, most low-cost and space-limited devices have challenges due to sizable dimensions of the integrated inductor and insufferable electromagnetic interface (EMI). The state-of-the-art inductor, spiral inductor, has been proposed and is integrated with radio-frequency filter and voltage-controlled oscillators (VCO). However, it has limited quality factor (Q) which is related with the parasitics of the inductor. The resultant efficiency with spiral inductance is much lower than the commonly used external inductors. When it comes to on-chip design for dc-dc converter, switch mode power converter is not applicable.

#### 3.1.2 Switched-Capacitor Power Converter

An alternative design for induction-based DC-DC converter, the switched-capacitance DC-DC converter is more applicable because an array of switches substitute the magnetic coils. Tthe array of capacitors store energy instead of the inductor. In other words, the pumping capacitor stores charge in one phase and transfers the energy to output power level in another phase.



Figure 3-2. Circuit schematic of charge pump

The advantages of switched-capacitor DC-DC converter include a low fabrication cost, high switching frequency, medium-to-high conversion efficiency, and reduced voltage-mode electromagnetic interference (EMI). In addition, HTFET uni-direction tunnel conduction suppresses the reverse current and improves the conversion efficiency. The steep slope with low voltage and lower dynamic power loss as compared to CMOS technology design is also favorable.

However, switched-capacitance DC-DC converter is challenged with nonzero switch on-resistance which is related to the signal-dependent current spike. Hence, ultra-low voltage range device suffers from a much larger on-resistance on switch, which dissipates energy and reduces the power efficiency. The larger ratio between the effective gate width and the effective gate length of the switch has lower on-resistance value.

Another obstacle for the design is the parasitic capacitance that introduces a power loss (as shown in Chapter 2). This is a challenge for HTFET circuit design due to higher miller capacitance than that of FinFET. Existing commercial switched-capacitance DC-DC converters are fabricated with the use of off-chip capacitors to preserve high conversion efficiency. However, portable ultra-low voltage devices prefer on-chip design, which does not allow the

external capacitor. Hence, the complexity of design and how the design makes an effect on the on-resistance is principal for power conversion efficiency. A more complicated design increases the aggregate internal capacitance and dynamic power loss during switching of phases.



Figure 3-3. On-resistance of HTFET switches versus gate-source voltage VGS.

To maintain an accurate output voltage, another necessary component for the design is a closed loop feedback controller and phase generator to maintain a desired voltage level. The control logic power optimization is important issue for higher conversion efficiency.

#### 3.2 Types of Switched-Capacitance Topology

#### 3.2.1 Dickson charge pumps



Figure 3-4. HTFET-based Dickson charge pump.

The most commonly used step-up switched converter topologies is the Dickson charge pump. A recently proposed start-up mechanism DC-DC converter used this topology and it has been improved since. The first proposed topology uses diodes as switches as illustrated in Fig 3-4. When  $\phi_A$  decreases to a low voltage, the voltage on the top plate of the capacitor C1 is biased to (Vin-Vthn), where Vin is the power supply voltage and Vthn is the threshold voltage of an n-type switch. When  $\phi_A$  increases to a high voltage, the voltage on the top plate of the capacitor C1 is biased to (2Vin – Vthn), while the voltage on C1 remains biased to closely (Vin-Vthn). When a higher voltage is set at the diode switch M2, C2 is charged as (2Vin-2Vthn). Finally, the output voltage of an N-stage Dickson charge-pump circuit is ideally generated as N\*(Vin – Vthn).

The major drawback of the Dickson charge pump is the threshold voltage drop across each diode-connected transistor, which reduces the power conversion efficiency significantly. The on-resistance of each diode could be calculated by threshold voltage drop. For ultra-lowpower applications, Vin is close to or below the threshold voltage range. The conventional Dickson charge-pump circuit will not work properly with high efficiency.

### 3.2.2 Dickson charge pumps with bootstrap control

To mitigate the voltage drop due to threshold voltage in the start-up stage, improved Dickson charge pumps are proposed. Static charge transfer switch is the one of the most enhanced technique.



Figure 3-5. The HTFET-based improved Dickson charge pump.

As shown in Fig3-5, with the initial startup, Vin is set to the drain of two coupled N-type devices, with the top being a diode-connected N-type transistor and the other an N-type charge transfer switch whose operation is controlled by the top-plate voltage of capacitor C2. C1 is charged to (Vin- Vth),  $\varphi_A$  goes up to Vdd and (2Vdd - Vth) has been biased in Z. Hence, Y has been biased by (2Vdd -2Vth) and the input voltage of M2 has been supplied by (2Vdd- 2Vth). Due to the subsequent higher input voltage on M2, the start-up threshold voltage is significantly reduced with higher efficiency. Similar to the bottom charge transfer, the bottom charge transfer supply increases by (Vdd - Vth) from the initially supplied input voltage to gate. The drawback for CMOS-based design is the bottom transfer switch cannot be completely turned-off after the charge from the later stages is transferred. However, HTFET-based design is not affected by leakage current due to a HTFET switched-capacitance characteristic, unidirectional tunnel conduction.

#### 3.2.2 Cross-coupled Voltage Doubler

The Dickson charge-pump is a not complicated design and is straightforward, but the conversion efficiency is low especially in low-supply-voltage and is not area efficient. However, cross-coupled switched capacitance DC-DC converters cover less area and have higher conversion efficiency. Due to optimized on-resistance of switch, it is most widely used in ultra-low voltage application. Underlying theory, key parameters, and optimization of performance are discussed in the following.

#### The Circuit and Operation Theory

As shown in Figure. 3-6, the circuit operates can be described as follows. Assume  $\phi_A$  and  $\phi_B$  are non-overlapped phase control signals ranging from GND to VDD. When  $\phi_A$  goes low and

 $\varphi_B$  goes high, V1 reduces to VDD and V2 increases to 2VDD. NM1 and PM2 are turned on while NM2 and PM1 are turned off. As a result, the output node is connected to node V2 through the on-state PM2, and the top plate of capacitor *C*1 is charged to VDD through the on-state NM1. Similarly, in the opposite phase, when  $\varphi_A$  goes high and  $\varphi_B$  goes low, NM2 is turned on and the top plate of capacitor *C*2 is charged to VDD and the output node is connected to V1 through PM1.



Figure 3-6. A conventional cross-coupled charge pump.

### The PCE Analysis and Design Challenges

As the most critical parameter in the charge pumps, the power efficiency is given by [14] [15]

$$\eta = \frac{E_D}{E_L + E_D},\tag{1}$$

where  $E_L$  represents the lost energy as

$$E_{L} = 2C_{s} V_{in}^{2} + 2C_{p} \Delta V_{out}^{2}, \qquad (2)$$

where  $\Delta V_{out}$  is voltage drop due to *Ro*, *CP* is pump capacitance ( $C_p = C_1 = C_2$ , in Figure 3-6) and *Cs* represents equivalent parasitic capacitance with each pump capacitance, which is called the total stray capacitance

$$C_s = \alpha \cdot C_p \tag{3}$$

The Energy losses in equation (2) is expressed as the two kinds of loss, one due to parasitic capacitance,  $C_s$  and another due to pump capacitance,  $C_p$ . The losses usually limit the peak efficiency of the converter. A direct non-desirable effect on this process is the charge and discharge of two capacitance in every clock cycle. As an example, for gain setting 2, the parasitic capacitance  $C_s$  charges to  $V_{in}$  in switch-off state (phase 1) and to ground in switch-on state (phase 2), wasting an energy of  $C_s V_{in}^2$ . The pump capacitance charges  $V_{in}$  in phase 1 and discharge  $\Delta V_{out}$  due to the output resistance including load resistance in phase 2. This causes an energy waste of  $C_p \Delta V_{out}^2$ . The schematic in Figure 3-6 is interleaved by two charge pump capacitance and the total losses every clock are expressed in equation (2). One of the major design snags with respect to the schematic is that parasitic capacitance directly effect the conversion efficiency. The load resistance  $R_L$  comprises of switch on-resistance and the simulated SC resistance. The SC resistance is driven by the switching of internal capacitance.  $\Delta V_{out}$  depends on the total parasitic capacitance and the load resistance,  $R_L$ . To the first-order approximation,  $R_o$  can be expressed as

$$R_{o} \cong \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2f_{clk}(1+\alpha)C_{p}}, & \text{iff } f_{clk} < f_{cutoff} \\ R_{on}, & \text{iff } f_{clk} \ge f_{cutoff} \end{cases}$$
(4)

where  $t_{sw}$  represents the switching delay of non-overlapping clock, and  $f_{cutoff}$  is represented as [18].

$$f_{cutoff} = \left[2R_{on}(1+\alpha)C_p + 2t_{sw}\right]^{-1}.$$
 (5)

where  $f_{clk}$  represents switching frequency In equation (1),  $E_D$  represents the delivered energy as

$$E_D = 2 \int_{V_{in}}^{2V_{in}} Q_c dv = \frac{V_{out}^2}{f_{clk} R_L},$$
 (6)

where  $Q_c$  is the charge delivered from each capacitor [19]. The output signal is interleaved by two phases, and accordingly, the delivered energy  $E_D$  is composed of energy from the two capacitors in two phases. In respect of the energy form only one capacitor (C1 or C2), when calculating delivered energy in each phase, voltage drop would be  $V_{in}$ .

In the steady state, the charge stored in each capacitor delivered to the load is

$$Q_c = 2C_p[\mathbf{V}_{in} - (\mathbf{V}_{out} - V_{in})] = \frac{\mathbf{V}_{out}}{R_L} T_S.$$
(7)

where  $T_S$  represents switching time **Error! Reference source not found.** In the ideal case,  $V_{out}=2V_{in}$ . Considering the on-state resistance  $R_{on}$  of the switches PM1 and PM2, the output voltage of the charge pump becomes

$$V_{out} = 2V_{in} \frac{R_L}{R_L + R_{on}}.$$
(8)

From equation (5), it is intuitive to notice the I-R drop voltage consumed by the non-zero  $R_{on}$ . The overall conversion efficiency of the cross-coupled charge pump is then expressed as [18]

$$\eta = \frac{1}{1 + \alpha \cdot C_p \cdot f_{clk} \frac{(R_L + R_0)^2}{2R_l} + 2C_p \cdot f_{clk} \frac{R_0^2}{R_l}}$$
(9)

From the equation (4) and (9), overall efficiency increases with  $f_{clk}$  until  $f_{clk}$  is larger than  $f_{cutoff}$ . When  $f_{clk}$  exceeds the  $f_{cutoff}$  limit, overall efficiency decreases with  $f_{clk}$ . For high efficiencies, practical range of frequency would be limited by  $f_{cutoff}$  [18].

## **Chapter 4**

## Cross-coupled charge pump design challenge

#### 4.1 Improved Cross-Coupled Charge Pump Design



Figure 4-1. Proposed cross-coupled HTFET charge pump.

Figure 4-1 shows the proposed improved cross-coupled charge pump for the HTFET DC-DC converter. By exploring the steep-slope characteristic of HTFET in low-voltage region, and using the improved cross-coupled charge pump topology, the DC-DC converter outperforms conventional CMOS converters in three aspects: (a) the ability of low-input-voltage operation, (b) operation with overlapping clock and (c) improved cross-coupled charge simulated in Section 4, this advantages convey higher power efficiency.

#### 4.1.1 Low-Input-Voltage Operation

HTFET which has low voltage operating due to low threshold voltage makes DC-DC converter operation with low voltage (>0.2). The characteristic of deep slop is critical role when voltage difference between voltage supply and threshold voltage.

#### 4.1.2 Simplified Phase-Control Clock Generation

In conventional cross coupled charge pumps, the two phase control signals are usually designed to be non-overlapped to prevent the current leakage from the nodes V1 and V2 to VDD (Figure 4-1). On the contrary, in the HTFET based cross-coupled charge pump, such leakage current becomes negligible because of the uni-directional tunneling conduction. As shown in Figure 4-2, the amount of leakage charge during a phase-switching is less than 0.01 percent of the forward charge. Therefore, in the proposed DC-DC converter, the phase control clocks needs not be non-overlapping, and accordingly, circuit realizations are simplified and the power efficiency becomes higher by avoiding the non-overlapping phase generation.

#### 4.1.3 Improved Cross-Coupled Charge Pump

Different from conventional cross-coupled charge pumps, in the proposed charge pump shown in Figure 4-1, the gate source in PM1 and PM2 connected to bottom of capacitance, which operate same as conventional converter because PM1 is connected when V4 is low and V1 is 2VDD, and PM1 is disconnected when V1 is VDD and V4 is VDD. The biased voltage in PM1 and PM2 is VDD in conventional converter, and 2VDD in proposed converter. Higher biased voltage would increase drain-to-source current which means that on-resistance is reduced. Increase drain-to-source current drives faster settling time shown as Figure 4-3. By the equation (9), reduced on-

resistance drives higher efficiency. By the equation from (8), output voltage in proposed converter is higher than conventional converter.



Figure 4-2. Current from drain to source of NM1 in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-3. Settling time comparisons between proposed and conventional converter



#### 4.2 HTFET Charge Pump Optimization

Figure 4-4. Equivalent simplified circuit of the charge pumps in Fig. 2-5 and Fig. 4-1.

Optimizations of the switch size and the pump capacitor  $C_P$  are presented for a high PCE. In the simulations, the phase control driver has the same transistor size as the switches in the charge pump. This setting is based on the fact that  $R_{DRIVER}$  of the phase driver and  $R_{SWITCH}$  of the switch are in series and affect the output in the same way, as illustrated in Figure 4-1. The phase control clock frequency  $f_{CLK}$  and the load resistance  $R_L$  are set to be 30 MHz and 1.0 k $\Omega$ , respectively.

Fig. 4-5 show the simulated PCE and DC output voltage  $V_{OUT}$  versus the pump capacitor  $C_P$  and the switch size, respectively. When  $C_P$  is less than 100 pF, the pumped charge through  $C_P$  is insufficient to drive the load, resulting in a low  $V_{OUT}$  and PCE. However, when  $C_P$  is too large, the PCE turns to drop due to two facts: (a) the delivered power to the load is not further increased even if  $C_P$  is further increased; (b) much larger phase generator power is consumed to drive such a larger  $C_P$ . In the applications with a certain input voltage, a trade-off between the capacitor area and optimum PCE can thus be made accordingly.



Figure 4-5. CP optimization of the proposed HTFET charge pump with 250  $\mu$ m switch width: (a) PCE; (b) VOUT; Switch width optimization for the proposed HTFET charge pump with 300 pF CP: (d) PCE; (e) VOUT.

As for the switch size optimization, because a larger switch size has lower on-resistance, the  $V_{OUT}$  increases with the switch size. Similarly, to reduce the dominating conduction energy loss  $E_{COND}$  and obtain a high PCE, the transistor width needs to be large enough to make its onresistance negligible. However, the PCE can be degraded by an excessively large transistor width which consumes more switching energy  $E_{SW}$ . When the input voltage  $V_{IN}$  is larger, this becomes more significant because  $E_{SW}$  is generally proportional to the square of  $V_{IN}$ .

After optimizations, the highest achieved PCE is larger than 90% for  $V_{IN}$  ranging from 0.20 V to 0.30 V. The maximum DC output voltage  $V_{OUT}$  is 0.37 V and 0.57 V, for a  $V_{IN}$  of 0.20 V and 0.30 V, respectively



Figure 4-6. Performance comparisons: (a) PCE versus VIN; (b) PCE versus RLOAD.

#### 4.3 Performance Benchmarking

Figure 4-6 shows the comparisons of simulated performance between the conventional Si FinFET charge pump and the proposed HTFET charge pump. In the simulations, the resistive load  $R_{LOAD}$ , the pump capacitor  $C_P$ , and the clock frequency  $f_{CLK}$  are set to be 1.0 k $\Omega$ , 300 pF and 30 MHz, respectively.

Figure 4-6 (a-b) shows the simulated  $V_{OUT}$  and PCE versus the input voltage  $V_{IN}$ . For  $V_{IN}$ <0.34 V, the conventional Si FinFET charge pump with switch size of 100 µm has a PCE less than 35% and  $V_{OUT}$  is lower than the input due to too large on-resistance of the switches. In this case, this charge pump is useless. In contract, the proposed HTFET charge pump with the same switch size has a PCE higher than 90% when  $V_{IN}$  is as low as 0.20 V. When  $V_{IN}$  is 0.20 V and 0.30 V, the  $V_{OUT}$  of the proposed HTFET charge pump is 0.37 V and 0.57 V, respectively.

Figure 4-6 (c) shows the simulated PCE versus the output power  $P_{OUT}$ . The change of the output power  $P_{OUT}$  is tuned by changing the output resistive load  $R_{LOAD}$ . When  $R_{LOAD}$  increases, the PCE gradually increases to its peak, and then drops when  $R_{LOAD}$  further increases. The PCE increases at first because a larger  $R_{LOAD}$  gathers more percentage of power with a size-fixed switch (see Figure 4-4). The PCE decreases after reaching its peak, because the output power turns to decrease with further increasing  $R_{LOAD}$ , while the input power is not decreasing. It is noted that with switches of the same size, the HTFET charge pump is able to deliver much more power with higher efficiency.



Figure 4-7.  $V_{OUT}$  and PCE comparisons with  $C_P$ =100pF and the switch size reduced to 20 µm.

Figure 4-7 also shows the PCE and  $V_{OUT}$  comparisons between the two HTFET charge pumps with and without the proposed cross-coupled topology. When the switch size is sufficiently large, the on-resistance is small and the performance is similar. When the switch size is small, e.g. 20 µm as shown in Figure 4-7, the proposed HTFET topology outperforms the convention topology with higher PCE and  $V_{OUT}$ , which is of significance in chip-area-restricted applications. For higher output voltage, the proposed charge-pump can be cascaded to build a high-efficiency 4× DC-DC converter.

## **Chapter 5 Conclusion**

In this thesis, the HTFET device characteristics have been explored for performance enhancement in the proposed step-up switched-capacitance DC-DC voltage charge pump. Performance evaluation and design optimizations have been presented. Both theoretical and simulated results have shown that the proposed HTFET charge pump is superior to existing CMOS charges pumps with higher power efficiency at low input voltages. The improvement is achieved in part by the steep-slope switching, uni-directional tunneling conduction, and a simplified phase driver. The performance improvement is also achieved by the proposed novel cross-coupled charge pump topology to reduce the on-resistance. After design optimizations, the proposed charge pump achieves simulated power efficiency higher than reported CMOS charge pumps. Further fabrication and measurement work is of significance

## Appendix

## TFET-based DC-DC converter Spectra Simulation File

// Generated for: spectre
// Generated on: Dec 17 19:44:09 2013
// Design library name: heo
// Design cell name: dickson28
// Design view name: schematic
inclusion lange assets
simulator rang-spectre
global 0
parameters br=4 \
c_fly=80p \
fsw=30M \
r=3 \
r load=1000 \
r = 10 n
W=130
// Library name: heo
// Cell name: dickson28
// View name: schematic
V10 (vinb 0) vsource dc=vin type=dc
V11 (vinc 0) vsource dc=vin type=dc
R4 (volt 0) resistor r=r load
C24 (not055 not02) constitut a=o fly
$C_{24}$ (heth) a heth(2) capacitor $C_{-1}$
$C_{22}$ (heto/2) refore (heto/2) capacitor $c - c_{-}$ hy
$C_2$ (volt 0) capacitor $c=c_1$ if
V2 (clk 0) vsource type=pulse val0=0 val1=vin period=1/fsw rise=trt \
tall=trf width=0.5*1/tsw-trf
I251 (net039 net037 0) NTFET_noisy_Multi W=w/br/br/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 \
Gamma=1.2 Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16 \
Trap depth=2e-09 attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG Ids corr=2
I250 (net041 net039 0) NTFET noisy Multi W=w/br/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 \
Gamma=1.2 Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16 $\$
Tran_denth=2e-09 attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG_Ids_corr=2
1/49 (net/04) net/04 (0) NTEET noisy Multi W=u/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 Gamma=1 2
$V_{\text{corr}} = 12 \text{ I} - 60  00 $
$\kappa_{0,\kappa} = 12$ $E^{-0} = 05$ $E^{-0} = 000$ $color = 10$ $M_{\pi} = 16$ $Hap_{\pi} = 000$ $K_{0,\kappa} = 100$ $M_{\pi} = 10$
auti-setto rano-2 DG_tus_con-2
1211 (clk vinb net03/) NIFE1_noisy_Multi W=w/br/br/br/br/mb=1 1emp=300 \
Gamma=1.2 Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16
Trap_depth=2e-09 attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG_Ids_corr=2
I244 (net038 clk 0) NTFET_noisy_Multi W=w/br/br/br/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 \
Gamma=1.2 Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16
Trap depth=2e-09 attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG Ids corr=2
1241 (net040 net038 0) NTFET noisy Multi W=w/br/br/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 \
Gamma=1.2  Kox=12  L=6e-09  B=843000  cot=7e-10  Nit=1e+16  L
Tran denth=2e.00 attn=5e+00 Eano=2 DG Ids corr=2
$\operatorname{Inp}_{\operatorname{up}}(70 \operatorname{pot}(400)\operatorname{NTET}, \operatorname{pot}$
$\frac{1238}{6100} (1000400) (1017E1 - 1005y - 10000 + 100070) (1010-17 - 100-100070) ($
Gamma=1.2  Kox=12  L=66-09  B=845000  Ge(=/e-10  Km=1e+16  Km)
Irap_deptn=2e-09 attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG_Ids_corr=2
1235 (net044 net070 0) NTFET_noisy_Multi W=w/br Nmb=1 Temp=300 Gamma=1.2 \
$Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 \text{ eot}=7e-10 \text{ Nit}=1e+16 \text{ Trap}_depth=2e-09 $
attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG_Ids_corr=2
I232 (net020 net044 0) NTFET noisy Multi W=w Nmb=1 Temp=300 Gamma=1.2 \
$K_{0x}=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16 Trap depth=2e-09 \$
attn= $5e+09$ Eano=2 DG Ids corr=2
1214 (net022 net013.0) NTEET noisy Multi W=w Nmh=1 Temp=300 Gamma=1.2)
$K_{0} = 121 + 6.00 = 243000 \text{ sol-}7310 \text{ Nit-1.4.16 Tran dank-2.2.00}$
attr=5a+00 Ender 20 Ide astr=2
atti-setty raffo-2 DQ_tus_coll-2
1107 (vinc netu42 netu55) N1FE1 noisy_Multi w=w Nmb=1 1emp=300 Gamma=1.2 \
$Kox=12 L=6e-09 B=843000 \text{ eot}=/e-10 \text{ Nit}=1e+16 \text{ Irap_depth}=2e-09 $
attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG_Ids_corr=2
1168 (vinc net055 net042) NTFET noisy Multi W=w Nmb=1 Temp=300 Gamma=1.2 \

Kox=12 I =6e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16 Tran_denth=2e-09 \
attn=5e+09 Fano=2 DG Ids corr=2
1254 (net039 net037 vinb) PTFET noisy Multi W=w*r/hr/hr/hr Nmh=1 Temn=300 \
$Gamma=1.2 \text{ K} \text{ or } = 1.2 \text{ I} = 6.0 \text{ B} = 8.43000 \text{ even} = 7e_{-}10 \text{ Ni} = 1e_{+}16 \text{ V}$
Tran denti- $2c_00$ attn=1 25+10 Fano=2
$1233$ (net041 net039 vinb) PTFET noisy Multi W=w*r/hr/hr Nmh=1 Temp=300 \
$G_{2}$ $G_{2$
$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$
$1252$ ( $ast/d2$ ) $ast/d1$ visb) DTEET poisy. Multi W=w*r/br Nmb=1 Tamp=200 \
$Gamma = 1.2 K_{0} \times 12 I = 6.00 R \approx 43000 act = 7.10 Nite + 1.4 K_{0}$
Gamma - 1.2 KOA - 12 L = 00 - 07 B = 0 - 04 500 COL - 70 - 10 Km - 10 + 10 (Trans. double-2.2 0.0 attm - 1.2 S - 1.0 E ano - 2
$11ap_udpun=2e-0.9$ attm=1.2.5e+10 rano=2 1216 ( $u_1$ point ( $u_2$ ) TPTET point ( $u_1$ ) ( $u_2$ ) ( $u_1$ ) ( $u_2$
$\frac{1210}{6} (\text{circ} 0.16057) \text{ FrFeT_1005y_Mult} = \frac{1210}{6} (\text{circ} 0.16057) \text{ FrFeT_10057} = \frac{1210}{6} (\text{circ} 0.16057)  FrFe$
Gamma-1.2 K0X-12 L-00-09 D-045000 C01-76-10 NR-16+10 \ Tran. donth=2.0 00 stm=1.25a+10 Eno=2
$1242$ (acto2) all $-1.250 + 10^{-2}$ and $-2$
$\frac{1245}{1245} (160056 \text{ cm} \text{ mm}) + 1721 \pm 1600 \text{ mm} \text{ mm} \text{ m} \text{ mm} \text{ m} \text{ mm} \text{ m} \text{ mm} \text{ m} $
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$
$rap_{deptil} = 2e \cdot 09 \operatorname{atm} = 1.25e \cdot 10 \operatorname{rand} = 2$
$1242$ (neuvo neuvos vino) PTET_noisy_multi w-w1/o/o/o/ vino-1 remp-300 (
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$
$120 (ast070 - ast040 + int) DTEET - asiat Multi W=w*r/hr/hr Mmk=1 Tamm=200 \$
$1259$ (hete/40 hete/40 vind) PTET_hotswith w-wit/off Nind-T temp=500 (
Gamma $-1.2$ K0x $-12$ L=0e-09 B=845000 col=/e-10 NH=1e+10 \ Trans double doubl
$1226$ ( $\alpha t = 0.00$ at $n = 1.250 \pm 10^{-1}$ m s $200$ km/s $1200$ km s $200$ km s $20$
1250 (hetel 4 hetel / 0 vind) P TET _noisy_Multi w-w $^{-1}$ /10 ivind=1 temp=500 (
Gamma=1.2  Kox=12  L=0e-09 B=843000 e0e=/e-10 Nit=1e+16
$17ap_{12}$ deptn=2e-09 attn=1.25e+10 rano=2
1253 (netu20 netu44 vinc) PTET noisy Multi w=w+1 ( $Mmb=1$ 1emp=500 (mamma=1.2)
$K0x=12$ L=0e-09 B=843000 eot=7e-10 Nit=1e+16 Trap_deptn=2e-09 (
$auu=1.25e^{\pm 10}$ Fano-2
1216 $(\text{neu}22 \text{ neu}43 \text{ vinc})$ PTET_noisy_Mutti w-w'i (wino-1 Temp-500 Gamma-1.2) $K_{\text{over}22} = \frac{1}{6}, 00 \text{ Ps} \frac{2900}{2000} \text{ over} \frac{1}{2}, 10 \text{ Vitra} = \frac{1}{16} \text{ Trans double} - 200 \text{ Vitra} = \frac{1}{2}, 00 \text{ Vitra} = \frac{1}{$
$K0x-12$ L-06-09 B-843000 cot-76-10 Nit-16+16 Hap_deptit-26-09 (
$auu=1.25e\pm10$ Fano-2 1202 (court as 10.22 as at 0.4) DEEET as ign Multi Wern's Market Tamas 200 (course = 1.2)
$1202$ (Vout het/022 het/042) PTFE1_hotsy_muttu w-wit Nm0-1 temp=500 Gamma-1.2 ( $K_{00}=121$ $K_{00}=242000$ actsy_muttu w-wit Nm0-1 temp=500 Gamma-1.2 (
$x_{0x-12} = 2 = -09 = 5 = -343000 = 60 = 76 = 10   M_1 = 16 = 10   M_1 = 16 = 10   M_1 = 126 = 04   M_2 = 10   M_2 = 10$
allii=1.25c+10 Failu=2
Vout 1eto20 leto35) FTFET_lotsy_Multi-w-w-1 Nino-1 Tetip-500 Gamma-1.2 (
ctter 1 2 E-0e-09 B-043000 cot-7e-10 Nit-1e+10 Trap_depin-2e-09
alun-1.250+10 Fano-2
simulator Options options fellow $1 = 10^{-5}$ value $1 = 12^{-5}$ result of
$d_{ij} = 5 \circ d_{ij} = 0 \circ d_{ij} = 1.0 \circ d_{ij} = 1.0 \circ d_{ij} = 1.0 \circ d_{ij} = 1.0 \circ d_{ij} = 0 \circ d_{ij} =$
algais-5 cois-80 piviel-1e-5 sensine/psi/sens.output
cneckilmindesi-psi tran tran ston=800p write="greate is" writefinal="greater fo")
an that stot=stots movies=5
annotate-status maxitets-3
mad time of this what-oppoint where-tawine
house rata field the second state of the secon
element mito what-inst whete-rawine
device Desrey Vals info what-output whete-tawine
design ratan vais into what-parameters where-rawine
primitives into what-primitives whete-fawine
SUUCKIS INTO WIRA-SUUCKIS WIRE-TAWINE
save-priors options source-air pwr-air currents-air stad i selede "the select of the source of the s
and include '/nome/mdi/uln5002/research/20nm_PSU_FE15/N1FE1_noisy_Multi/veriloga/veriloga.va"
and_include_/nome/mdl/uln3002/research/20nm_r50_rE15/P1FE1_noisy_Multi/veriloga/veriloga.va*

## References

- T. Brozek, Micro- and nanoelectronics: Emerging device challenges and solutions, CRC Press, 2015.
- [2] Po-Hung Chen, Koichi Ishida, Katsuyuki Ikeuchi, Xin Zhang, Kentaro Honda, Yasuyuki Okuma, Yoshikatsu Ryu,Makoto Takamiya, and Takayasu Sakurai, "Startup techniques for 95 mV step-up converter by capacitor pass-on scheme and Vth-tuned oscillator with fixed charge programming," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, May 2012.
- [3] Ottman GK, Hofmann HF, Bhatt AC, Lesieutre GA, "Adaptive piezoelectric energy harvesting circuit for wireless remote power supply," 2002.
- [4] Ramadass YK, Chandrakasan AP, "An efficient piezoelectric energy harvesting interface circuit using a bias-flip rectifier and shared inductor," in *IEEE J Solid-State Circ*, 2010.
- [5] Vinay Saripalli, Suman Datta, Jaydeep P. Kulkarni, and Vijaykrishnan Narayanan, "Variation-tolerant ultra-low power heterojunction tunnel FET SRAM design," in *IEEE/ACM Symp. Nanoscale Architectures*, June 2011.
- [6] Cotter. M, Huichu Liu, Datta. S., Narayanan, V, Evaluation of tunnel FETbased flip-flop designs for low power, high performance applications, IEEE Int.
   Symp.. on Qual. Elec. Design (ISQED 2013), 2013.

- Huichu Liu, Ramesh Vaddi, Suman Datta, and Vijaykrishnan Narayanan,
   "Tunnel FET-based ultra-low power, high-sensitivity UHF RFID Rectifier," in *ISLPED*, Sept. 2013.
- [8] Alan C. Seabaugh, and Qin Zhang, "Low-voltage tunnel transistors for beyond CMOS logic," in *IEEE Proceedings*, Dec. 2010.
- [9] Huichu Liu, Suman Datta, and Vijaykrishnan Narayanan, "Steep Switching Tunnel FET: A promise to extend the energy efficient roadmap for post-CMOS digital and analog/RF applications," in *ISLPED*, Sept. 2013.
- [10] Vinay Saripalli, Guangyu Sun, Asit Mishra, Yuan Xie, Suman Datta, and Vijaykrishnan Narayanan, "Exploiting heterogeneity for energy efficiency in chip multiprocessors," *IEEE Journal on Emerging and Selected Topics in Circuits and Systems*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 109-119, June 2011.
- H. Liu, D. K. Mohata, A. Nidhi, V. Saripalli, V. Narayanan and S. Datta,
   "Exploration of vertical MOSFET and tunnel FET device architecture for sub 10nm node applications," in *70th Annual Device Research Conference (DRC)*, June 2012.
- [12] S. Datta, R. Bijesh, H. Liu, D. Mohata, and V.Narayanan, "Tunnel transistors for energy efficient computing," in *IEEE IRPS*, April 2013.
- S. Mookerjea, R. Krishnan, S. Datta and V. Narayanan, "On Enhanced Miller Capacitance in Inter-Band Tunnel Transistors," in *IEEE Electron Device Lett*, Oct. 2009.
- [14] TCAD Sentaurus Device Manual, Ver. C, Synopsys, March, 2010.
- [15] Uygar E. Avci, Sayed Hasan, Dmitri E. Nikonov, Rafael Rios, Kelin Kuhn, and Ian A. Young, "Understanding the feasibility of scaled III-V TFET for logic by

bridging atomistic simulations and experimental results," in *IEEE VLSI Technology Symposium*, June 2012.

- [16] Hadi Y. Kanaan, Kamal Al-Haddad, "Modeling techniques applied to switch-mode power converters: application to the boost-type single-phase fullbridge rectifier," in *Human System Interactions*, Krakow, Poland, 2008.
- [17] Dongsheng Ma, Rajdeep Bondade, Reconfigurable Switched Capacitor Power Converters, Springer, 2013.
- [18] Pierre Favrat, Associate Member, IEEE, Philippe Deval, and Michel J.Declercq, "A high-efficiency CMOS voltage doubler," Mar. 1998.
- [19] J. Dickson, "on-chip high-voltage generation in NMOS integrated circuits using an Improved voltage multiplier technique," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, 1976.
- [20] Shad Roundy Dan Steingart, Luc Frechette, Paul Wright, and Jan Rabaey,Power sources for wireless sensor networks, Springer, 2014.
- [21] Hélène Lhermet, Cyril Condemine, Marc Plissonnier, Raphaël Salot,
   Patrick Audebert, and Marion Rosset, "Efficient power management circuit: From thermal energy harvesting to above-IC microbattery energy storage," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, Jan. 2008.
- [22] Cesare Alippi, and Cristian Galperti, "An adaptive system for optimal solar energy harvesting in wireless sensor network nodes," in *IEEE Trans. Circuits and Syst. I*, July 2008.

- [23] Y. K. Ramadass and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A battery-less thermoelectric energy harvesting interface circuit with 35 mV startup voltage," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, Jan. 2011.
- [24] Roberto Pelliconi, David Iezzi, Andrea Baroni, Marco Pasotti, Pier Luigi Rolandi, "Power efficient charge pump in deep submicron standard CMOS technology," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, June 2003.
- [25] Tom Van Breussegem, and Michiel Steyaert, "A 82% efficiency 0.5% ripple 16-phase fully integrated capacitive voltage doubler," in *IEEE Symp. VLSI Circuits*, June 2009.
- [26] E. Carlson, K. Strunz, and B. Otis, "A 20 mV input boost converter for thermoelectric energy harvesting," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, April 2010.
- [27] Po-Hung Chen, Koichi Ishida, Xin Zhang, Yasuaki Okuma, Yoshikatsu Ryu, Makoto Takamiya, and Takayasu Sakurai, "0.18-V input charge pump with forward body biasing in startup circuit using 65 nm CMOS," in *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuit Conference (CICC)*, Sept. 2010.
- [28] I. Doms, P. Merken, R. Mertens, C. Van Hoof, "Integrated capacitive power-management circuit for thermal harvesters with output power 10 to 1000µW," in *IEEE ISSCC*, Feb. 2009.
- [29] Ayan Paul, Dong Jiao, Sachin Sapatnekar and Chris H. Kim, "Deep trench capacitor based step-up and step-down DC/DC converters in 32nm SOI with opportunistic current borrowing and fast DVFS capabilities," in *IEEE ASSCC*, Nov. 2013.

- [30] T. Ying, W. H. Ki, and M. Chan, "Area-efficient CMOS charge-pumps for LCD drivers," in *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, Oct. 2003.
- [31] Dragan Maksimovi'c, and Sandeep Dhar, "Switched-capacitor DC-DC converters for low-power on-chip applications," in 30th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Aug. 1999.
- [32] Younis Allasasmeh and Stefano Gregori, "Switch bootstrapping technique for voltage doublers and double charge pumps," in *IEEE ISCAS*, 2011.
- [33] Karthik Swaminathan, Huichu Liu, Xueqing Li, Moon Seok Kim, Jack Sampson, Vijaykrishnan Narayanan, "Steep slope devices: enabling new architectural paradigms," in *DAC*, 2014.
- [34] Karthik Swaminathan, H. Liu, J. Sampson and V. Narayanan, "An Examination of the Architecture and System-level Tradeoffs of Employing Steep Slope Devices in 3D CMPs," in *ISCA*, June, 2014.
- [35] Karthik Swaminathan, M. S. Kim, N. Chandramoorthy, B. Sedighi, R.
   Perricone, J. Sampson, V. Narayanan, "Modeling steep slope devices: From circuits to architectures," in *DATE*, 2014.